# IN THE

## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

JAMES A. MORGAN,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

CASE NO. 75,676

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant/Cross-Appellee

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

James Morgan was the Defendant and the State of Florida was the Prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to by name or as Appellant and Appellee.

The following symbols will be used:

R	•		•	•	•	•			•	Record on Appeal
1SR	•	•			•	•	•	•	•	First Supplemental Record
2SR	•	•	•	•	•			•		Second Supplemental Record
										Third Supplemental Record
										Fourth Supplemental Record

Additionally, note that the page numbering 1034-1110 are repeated in the transcript. The repeated numbers are designated 1034A-1110A. (They are all in Volume VII.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Morgan was indicted on September 23, 1977. His conviction was reversed by this Honorable Court in <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 392 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 1981) (<u>Morgan I</u>) due to an unconstitutional bifurcated insanity procedure. This Court again reversed James Morgan's conviction due to the complete prohibition of his insanity defense. <u>Morgan v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1984) (<u>Morgan II</u>). This Court then reversed the conviction due to the exclusion of James Morgan's expert witnesses on the issue of insanity. <u>Morgan</u> <u>v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1989) (<u>Morgan III</u>).

The trial took place on January 22 through February 2, 1990. R 1-1735. James Morgan was convicted of first degree murder. R 1735. The penalty phase was held on February 5, 1990. R 1743-1790. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of eight to four. R 1789-1790. The judge imposed a sentence of death. R 1806-1814.

- 1 -

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involved the death of Gertrude Trbovich on June 6, 1977. The state's case began with witnesses who described the scene. Miles Heckendorn was the technician for the Martin County Sheriff's Office. R 612. He arrived at the home of the deceased at about 7:30 a.m. on June 7, 1977. R 612-613. Deceased was in the kitchen. R 631. A wooden handled serrated knife was on the kitchen floor. R 642-643. He identified a possible bite mark on the deceased's right breast. R 645-646. He obtained fingerprints, footprints, and palm prints from James Morgan. R 677-678. A pen and stationary were on the floor. R 697-698.

Walt Parsons, a former Stuart Police Officer, testified concerning the initial interrogation of James Morgan and other investigation. R 742. He observed footprints in the blood around the deceased's body. R 743. He interrogated James Morgan at his home at 3:30 p.m. on June 7, 1977. R 745-746. James Morgan stated he cut three lawns on June 16, 1977. R 747. He was with his cousin, Robert, and another man named Yawn. R 747. James stated that he'd gone in the home to use the phone. R 747-748.

Dr. John Williams, a dentist, stated he took an impression of James Morgan's teeth and made a plaster cast from these. R 767-768. Dr. Thomas Ford, a dentist, testified that the bite mark on the deceased's breast matched James Morgan's bite mark.

Officer Joanne Waldron identified a crescent wrench that was found with blood on it. R 820-821. She collected a bread knife from the kitchen floor. R 834. She identified blood and saliva samples from James Morgan. R 850-851. The blouse of the deceased

- 2 -

was pulled up. R 855-856. The bra was in the proper position, but it had a cut mark. R 855-857.

The previous testimony of the medical examiner, Dr. Schofield was read. R 881. He identified bruise marks on the front left side of the face and wounds to the ring finger. R 884-885. There were six stab wounds to the right side of the back and on the right breast. R 886. There was a bite mark to the breast. R 886-887. There were fifteen cuts on the left hand that were consistent with defensive wounds. R 889-892. There was bruising of the vagina consistent with insertion of an object. R 893-894. She died by a combination of blows and stab wounds. R 899-900. The doctor said he had "the feeling" that death "probably did not occur immediately". R 900. He had no idea when she lost consciousness. R 900-901. He stated that immediate unconsciousness was possible. R 906. The bruising could have been by an object, finger, or a sexual organ. R 903. There was no proof of sexual intercourse. R 904.

Anthony Laurito testified that James Morgan's footprint is consistent with a footprint at the scene. R 914-918. Daniel Nippes testified as to hair, blood, and fluid comparison. R 920-923. Under the deceased's fingernails were fibers consistent with James Morgan's jacket. R 924-925. There was crushed hair on the wrench consistent with the deceased's hair. R 926-927. He found a droplet of saliva on the external upper pubic region of the deceased which could not be typed. R 929-934. Tommy Moorefield, an FBI fingerprint specialist, found a fingerprint and footprints in the tile which were consistent with those of James Morgan. R 960-964.

- 3 -

Robert Crowder, a former Martin County Deputy Sheriff, interrogated James Morgan on September 10, 1980. R 990. James stated that he was working on the deceased's lawn when he saw a coworker, Charles Yawn, go inside the house. R 992-993. He stated he went inside and saw a body on the floor and the house was a mess. R 993-994. He said that Charles Yawn held a knife on him and forced him to bite the deceased's breast. R 993-994. He said her pants were down and blouse was up. R 994-995. He said that Charles' forced him to get a towel from the bathroom and clean up the blood. R 995. He washed his hands and feet with a faucet on the side of the house and finished mowing the lawn. R 995. They left the area about 4:00 p.m. R 995-996. He had originally entered the home to use the phone about 3:00 p.m. He was told to re-enter by Charles Yawn about 3:30 p.m. R 996. The state rested and a motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. R 1000-1005.

The defense case consisted of people who knew James Morgan and mental health professionals who evaluated him. These witnesses testified concerning James Morgan's mental state. Billy Joe Mobley had sniffed gasoline fumes with James on a regular basis. R 1026-1027. It caused auditory and visual hallucinations. R 1030-1031. The other lay witness presented by the defense was Alice Morgan, James' mother. R 1160-1161. James was a slow learner in school and was in special classes. R 1160-1162, 1167-1168. He was born on November 28, 1960 and was 16 on June 8, 1977. R 1167. James was physically punished when he drank. R 1163-1164. James saw a psychiatrist in late 1975 and early 1976 as a result of problems in school and emotional problems. R 1168. Ms. Morgan stated that

- 4 -

her son had inhaled gasoline from a very young age. R 1169. She caught him sniffing gasoline on several occasions and saw its effects. R 1169. James experienced visual hallucinations. R 1169. James sniffed gasoline over a long period of time. R 1168-1169. James' father was an alcoholic that was often drunk in James' presence. R 1169.

Three mental health professionals testified for the defense. Dr. Glenn Caddy, a psychologist, testified concerning his evaluations of James Morgan. R 1035-1036. Dr. Caddy was qualified as an expert in the fields of forensic psychology and the use of hypnosis. R 1047. He first examined James Morgan in 1985. R 1048-1049. He reviewed the reports of other mental health professionals and investigative reports of law enforcement. R 1049. He spent  $6\frac{1}{2}$ to 7 hours in his initial evaluation of Mr. Morgan. R 1050-1051.

James Morgan performed poorly in school and dropped out at a young age. R 1052-1053. He began sniffing gasoline fumes at age 12 and continued regularly. R 1053-1054. He also began drinking by age 13 and continually increased his drinking as he got older. R 1054. There was a history of alcohol abuse and general chaos in his family. R 1054. Dr. Caddy testified that chronic inhalation of gasoline can cause brain impairment, including memory loss and black outs. R 1055. The immediate effects of inhalation include hallucinations and emotional distancing from events. R 1055. He had to use very simple communication to get through to James. R 1056. Dr. Caddy stated that he had performed an intelligence test, several projective psychological tests, and a comprehensive neuropsychological exam. R 1058-1060.

- 5 -

Dr. Caddy's initial testing of James Morgan indicated "a truly troubled young man." R 1060. He had an I.Q. of 80 which is 20 points below average. R 1060. Dr. Caddy stated:

We have a person with very poor insight into the world around him, relatively little ability to introspect to take -- to take himself and think about himself in the context of his life and his world. His judgment, his ability to abstract and to reason was poor. His imagination was simplistic and very concrete. He seemed to suffer from an inability to experience a successful or competent fantasy life. He looked in the testing protocol as if he lacked an appreciation of interpersonal relationships, very lacking in talent in any social facilitation or social graces. And I don't mean by that simply manners, I mean the ability to interact socially with another person other than a very, very limited degree was -- was an issue of real limitations to this man's overall interpersonal functions. They're seemed to be an overall sadness in -- his demeanor as he presented himself.

# R 1060.

Dr. Caddy testified that James sniffed gasoline and drank alcohol on the date of the offense. R 1066-1067. James initially downplayed his memory of events, until confronted further. R 1065-1066. He then stated that he went in the deceased's house to use the restroom. R 1067. James became convinced that she was going to report him for drinking and that he would be in serious trouble for this. R 1068-1069. James had a spark plug wrench in his pocket and began hitting her with it. R 1069-1070. She had a look of disgust on her face which enraged him and he threw a vase and picked up a knife as she ran. R 1069-1070. Dr. Caddy felt hypnosis could be helpful on the issue of insanity. R 1079-1082.

Dr. Caddy's neuropsychological testing revealed brain dysfunction. R 1077-1078. Dr.Caddy administered  $4\frac{1}{2}$  hours of neuropsychological tests to James. R 1077-1079. There were "serious

- 6 -

limitations of brain functioning". R 1078. This dysfunction seemed to be long-standing. R 1078-1079. The impairment could be genetic. R 1078-1079. The finding of brain impairment in the testing was consistent with James' clinical history including school records and family history. R 1082-1083.

Dr. Caddy eventually decided to hypnotize James Morgan after conversations with Dr. Koson, a psychiatrist. R 1080-1081. They participated in the procedure together and both believed that James was responding well to hypnosis. R 1083-1084. Hypnosis is a generally accepted clinical tool. R 1084-1085. The session was not James Morgan was able to give more detail taped. R 1085-1086. about the incident under hypnosis. R 1091-1092. James woke up feeling sick the morning of the incident and was angry with his parents, who made him go to work. R 1095. He sniffed gasoline and drank alcohol that day. R 1094-1095. James went to the deceased's house and was let in to use the bathroom and the telephone. R 1095-He stated that the deceased had a look of disgust on her 1096. face that was similar to one his mother had when his father was drunk, R 1095-1096. He could not reach his father on the telephone. R 1096. James saw the woman writing a letter with an expression of disgust and he thought she was writing his family. R 1096. He felt tremendous rage and anger and took the wrench out and began to strike her. R 1096-1097. He then threw a vase at the woman and began stabbing her with a kitchen knife. R 1097. He then pulled up the woman's blouse and bit her breast and pulled down her pants and inserted his hand. R 1098-1099. He briefly attempted to clean up the blood and left the house. R 1099.

- 7 -

Dr. Caddy testified that James was "very immature" even for a 16 year old. R 1096. He was suffering the effects of gasoline fumes and to a lesser extent alcohol. R 1101. He was extremely vulnerable emotionally, due to the events of the day and his prior life history. R 1101-1103. He was experiencing paranoia and extremely poor judgment. R 1101-1102. Dr. Caddy stated that James Morgan was legally insane during the incident. R 1102-1107. He performed tests on James Morgan to determine susceptibility to hypnosis. R 1098A-1099A. The hypnosis session lasted about four hours. R 1107A. Dr. Caddy stated that James Morgan was brain damaged based on his neuropsychological testing. R 1106A-1108A. He stated that James suffered from an isolated explosive disorder. This is an impulse control disorder that is affected by R 1119. alcohol or drugs and can lead a person to a rage reaction or paranoid reaction. R 1124-1125.

The defense also called Dr. Dennis Koson, a board certified forensic psychiatrist. R 1128. He examined James Morgan on April 19, 1985. R 1129. Prior to his examination, he spoke to James' mother and sister about his background and life. R 1136. He reviewed reports of other doctors, and police reports. R 1137. He examined James for about three hours and took a life history and mental status examination. R 1130. James was very dependent on his family and had a constricted social life. R 1131. He had a learning disability and could not read at that time. R 1131. He had also been involved in excessive drinking. R 1131. Dr. Koson testified that inhalation of gas fumes can cause brain damage. R 1131-1132.

- 8 -

Dr. Koson also examined James concerning his mental state on the day in question. R 1132. James was feeling sick and had headaches on the morning of the incident. R 1131-1132. He had been drinking the day before. R 1132. Jim sniffed gasoline and drank the morning of the incident. R 1132. The deceased let James in to use the phone and bathroom. R 1132. She looked at him as though "she were repelled by him." R 1132. He became angry when he could not reach his father on the phone. R 1133. He went into the bathroom and thought he heard Ms. Trbovich mumbling about telling his mother about his drinking. R 1133. He came out and saw her writing at a desk and he thought he heard her say she was writing to his mother. R 1133. He pulled out a wrench from his pocket and began striking her. R 1133. She had a look of disgust like his mother had when his father came home druni. R 1133. He threw a vase at her and stabbed her. R 1133-1136. There was a brief attempt to clean up the blood. R 1134. James had several memory gaps in this interview. R 1134. Dr. Koson stated that James suffered from brain damage. R 1138. He based this on his interview, the materials he reviewed and the testing of Dr. Caddy. R 1138.

Dr. Koson was present when Dr. Caddy performed hypnosis on April 28, 1985. R 1140. Dr. Koson tried to be as unobtrusive as possible during the session, only passing notes to Dr. Caddy. R 1141. Dr. Caddy first tested James to see if could be hypnotized. R 1141-1142. Dr. Caddy was scrupulous in avoiding cuing James during the session. R 1143. James was able to elaborate on his feelings and some of the events during hypnosis. R 1144. He

- 9 -

discussed his headaches and his anger when he could not reach his father. R 1144. The woman then looked at him with the same look of panic and fear as his mother. R 1144. This led to his throwing a vase and stabbing her. R 1114. Dr. Koson testified that James suffered from isolated dyscontrol syndrome and uncontrollable rage. R 1146-1147. He was legally insane. R 1147-1148.

The defense also had the testimony of Dr. Benjamin Center, a psychologist, read to the jury (the witness was deceased). R 1170-1172. Dr. Center has a doctorate in psychology. R 1172-1174. He has taught at Barry College, Florida International University, and Nova University. R 1173-1174. He primarily works in the field of neuropsychology. R 1175. He was declared an expert in the fields of psychology, school psychology, and neuropsychology. R 1177-1178.

Dr. Center examined James Morgan for eight hours on September 11, 1981. R 1181. He did numerous neuropsychological tests on James Morgan. R 1182-1217. The STROP test, a neuropsychological test, indicated possible brain damage in the frontal lobe. R 1185. James' reading and spelling were at the first grade level and his math was at the fifth grade level. R 1186-1187. The reading and spelling scores were consistent with damage to the left side of the brain. R 1187. James could not comprehend a pre-primary story. R 1188-1189. Dr. Center stated that psycholinguistic testing indicated an age of 8, even though James was 20 at the time of the testing. R 1189-1190. Dr. Center's I.Q. testing revealed an I.Q. of 84 which is dull normal and in the bottom 16% of the population. R 1192. Most of the damage was on the left side of the brain, which affects his ability to understand complex situations, to respond under stress, and to exercise proper judgment. R 1197.

Dr. Center had also reviewed the report of Dr. Thomas, a school psychologist who had tested James in 1973, when he was 12. R 1199-1201. At that time, he scored at the kindergarten level on the reading test and at the second grade level on the math test. R 1199-1201. This was well behind his expected level of development. R 1201. This suggests brain damage. R 1202. Numerous subtests confirmed the diagnosis of brain damage of a type that affects judgment and ability to act under stress. R 1204-1218. The defense then rested and its renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. R 1257-1258.

The prosecution's case in rebuttal consisted of the testimony of Dr. Martin Orne and Dr. Park Dietz, both psychiatrists. Dr. Orne never examined James Morgan. He testified as to his opinion of the hypnosis session. Dr. Orne has conducted substantial research on hypnosis. R 1261-1269. He stated that hypnosis is "usually" valid, although people vary in their ability to be hypnotized. R 1276-1277. He felt the hypnotizability test performed by Dr. Caddy was not valid as he only employed four of twelve subtests. R 1280-1282. Dr. Orne stated that a hypnosis session should be videotaped so others can review it. R 1306-1311. He also feels no one other than the hypnotist and subject should be in the room. R 1312. He said it is unusual for a subject to be hypnotizable at one time and not later. R 1326-1327. Dr. Orne stated he has "no opinion" as to the hypnosis session in 1985

- 11 -

because he was not there and did not see a tape, despite his criticism of some of the procedures involved. R 1327-1328.

Dr. Dietz is a psychiatrist from California who formerly taught at the University of Virginia. R 1385-1387. Dr. Dietz examined Mr. Morgan once in 1990, during the trial. R 1398-1399. He previously reviewed police reports, the testimony of other mental health professionals, and autopsy reports. R 1398-1400. He stated that, although he did not test James, his record review indicated his I.Q. was dull normal and in the bottom 15% of the population. R 1404-1405. Dr. Dietz said that he did not see "clinically significant evidence" of "serious brain damage"; although he could not rule this out. R 1405-1406. He stated he reviewed Dr. Center's testimony "and couldn't tell what he was saying really." R 1408. Dr. Dietz felt that alcohol abuse was not significant to the offense. R 1409-1410. Dr. Dietz testified that although James had repeatedly inhaled gasoline fumes, including the date of the offense, this did not have a significant effect on his behavior. R 1413-1414. He felt the offense was more characteristic of rage than of any sexual motivation. R 1416-1430.

Dr. Dietz explained that the diagnosis of "isolated explosive disorder" had been in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of the American Psychiatric Association in 1980 and it was removed in 1987 by a majority vote of a committee. R 1436-1439. He said that James Morgan met the criteria for this diagnosis, but he did not feel it is a valid diagnosis. R 1438-1439. He felt James did not meet the criteria for intermittent explosive disorder as there were no other violent incidents. R 1439-1440. He felt James did not suffer from psychosis. R 1441-1449. He stated that he felt James Morgan acted out of extreme rage and anger during the incident, but was not legally insane. R 1474-1476. He stated that the rage built up quickly. R 1493. Dr. Dietz testified that James Morgan had been sexually abused by two cousins and an uncle. R 1498. They had forced him to perform oral and anal sex. R 1498-1499. Dr. Dietz also stated that the symptoms which James Morgan described were consistent with regular inhalation of gasoline fumes. R 1499-1500.

Both sides rested and James Morgan's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. R 1543-1544. The jury returned a verdict of guilt of first degree murder. R 1735.

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