#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 75,676

JAMES A. MORGAN,

Appellant,

SID J. WHITE

MAR 22 1993

CLERK, SUBREME COURT

vs.

#### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RALPH BARREIRA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0374490 Department of Legal Affairs 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 P. O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

#

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

VI.

ALL THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENTS TO MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Both Drs. Caddy and Kosen, as well as Dr. Dietz, testified extensively as to statements the defendant made to a slew of experts between 1977 and 1985, including damaging statements made to defense expert Dr. Vaughn in 1981 ("I must kill her"). All three experts used the results of these prior examinations, including the defendant's statements made therein,

in forming their opinions. The existence and significance of these prior statements were <u>hugely</u> relevant because the defendant's credibility as a story teller to examining experts was critical, and the substance of the statements bore directly on the defendant's state of mind, a state of mind he put in issue when he filed a notice of insanity. He not merely agreed to but requested these examinations. At the time the "I must kill her" statement was made to Dr. Vaughn, supposedly under hypnosis, Vaughn was a defense expert preparing for the 1981 retrial. There is absolutely no Fifth Amendment issue here at all.

The cases relied on by the defendant, <u>Parker v. State</u>, 238 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1970), <u>Jones v. State</u>, 289 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1974), <u>McMann v. State</u>, 264 So. 2d 868 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972), and <u>Curtis v. State</u>, 589 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), are all cases where the defendant had been compelled to submit to a court appointed examination, which is hardly the case with Dr. Vaughn's 1981 hypnotic session with the defendant. The cited cases are all in line with the reasoning of <u>Estelle v. Smith</u>, 101 S.Ct. 1866 (1981), holding that statements made during a compelled examination, one given without notice to counsel, were taken in violation of the defendant's miranda rights.

The State would further note that any hearsay problem (defendant to Vaughn = non hearsay, Drs. Caddy and Dietz relating what Vaughn said defendant said = hearsay) is resolved by Fla. R.

Evid. 90.704, 705, which permit experts to testify as to the source of their opinions without regard to the source's admissibility.

Finally, the defendant told Dr. Dietz directly that he wanted to hurt the victim when he exited the bathroom and beat her in the head with the wrench, hence the element of scienter necessary for at least felony murder was present independent of the "I must kill her" statement. The bottom line, however, is that the statement was properly admitted.

VII.

THE STATEMENTS AS TO THE VICTIM'S CHARACTER WERE NOT OBJECTED TO AND THE ISSUE IS THUS WAIVED.

There was no objection to this testimony and the issue is thus procedurally barred.

VIII.

THE STATE'S EXPERT DID NOT COMMENT ON THE CREDIBILITY OF A DEFENSE WITNESS AND THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

In the excerpt cited, State expert Dr. Orne was talking about the defendant's credibility, not that of the defendant's experts. There of was also no objection and thus the issue is procedurally barred.

IX.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ORDERING A SECOND HYPNOSIS SESSION AND ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS.

This issue arose as follows (SR3. 12-31): Defense counsel thought a new hypnosis session was needed because the 1985 session did not contain the safeguards announced in Morgan v. State, 537 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1989). He wrote a letter to the prosecutor to that effect, and the prosecutor's response was that he wanted to be present and have it videotaped. At the June 29, 1989 hearing the prosecutor spoke at length about the need for videotaping the new session planned by defense counsel. Defense counsel then stated he wasn't sure if a new 15-23. session was needed, and asked the Court for a ruling on whether the old (1985) session was admissible. Defense counsel then stated that if the court required a new session, it should not be videotaped (Id. at 23, 24). The prosecutor then stated the defendant had raised a new issue, the need for a new session, and that the State's position would be that a new session was needed because the 1985 one had none of the safeguards announced in Morgan III. He then argued as to the need for videotaping. The trial court ultimately ruled that as a prerequisite admissibility of the 1985 session, a new session with the safequards must be undertaken.

The defendant sought rehearing, (R. 28-43) and the trial court again ruled that Morgan III's "in the future" referred to

the trial in Morgan IV, i.e. the instant case. As the defendant relates in his brief, Dr. Caddy was unable to hypnotize the defendant at the new session. Because the attempt was made, the court allowed in evidence of the 1985 sessions, and the opinions of Dr. Caddy and Kosen based thereon.

The State asserts initially that the trial court was every effort to comply with Morgan III, making and interpretation (that a new session was needed, one complying with the Morgan III safeguards) was correct. This Court will of course make the final call as to its intent in Morgan III. Even if this Court holds that requiring a new session was error, the error is definitely harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. evidence generated by this failed session was Dr. testimony that succeptibility to hynosis is usually consistent over time, so the failure of the defendant to become hypnotized in 1989 bolstered his opinion that the 1985 session was invalid. This was a tiny fraction of the basis for his opinion that the 1985 session was completely unreliable, an opinion based on a total failure to follow any of the procedures and safeguards required by the profession (R. 1308-1357). His detailed critique spans every facet of the 1985 session, as well as the assumptions Dr. Caddy and Kosen drew therefrom. He closed out by concluding that Dr. Caddy's failure to use the tape recorder he had with him was not only an unforgiveable professional sin, but an indication as well that he knew his procedures would not stand up to scrutinity by other professionals. (R. 1357).

In sum, the negative effect of the new session was insignificant and could not possibly have effected the verdict herein. Any good faith error by the trial court was thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

х.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED THE DEFENDANT EXAMINED BY THE STATE'S EXPERT.

This issue is governed by <u>Henry v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1991), as the defendant acknowledges, and the State will rely on the analysis therein.

XI.

THE RECORD IS DEFINITELY ADEQUATE FOR MEANINGFUL APPELLATE REVIEW.

The record below underwent substantial reconstruction as to the inaudible segments, and is now virtually complete. The remaining inaudibles cited hardly prevent meaningful review. Specifically as to the shackling issue, it is clear that the trial court was extremely sensitive to the jurors not seeing the defendant restrained in any fashion. At one point in the trial (R. 845) the bailiff reported that as he led the defendant to the bathroom in handcuffs, a juror might have seen the defendant. The judge then questioned the juror, Mr. Shafer, who reported that he had not seen anything (R. 876, 47). It is clear from this incident that whatever restraints were used for security

purposes (handcuffs and the accompanying waist belt were all the bailiff testified to) were kept from the view of the jurors, as they should be unless the defendant's dangerousness compels otherwise. The other inaudibles cited in no way suggest any type of error occurred. This issue is thus without merit

XII.

EXECUTION OF A PERSON WHO WAS SIXTEEN (16) AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

The State will rely on the analysis of Justice O'Conner in <u>Stanford v. Kentucky</u>, 492 U.S. 361 (1989). There is no logical distinction between the provisions of the Federal and Florida prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, and the State urges this Court to adopt the rationale of <u>Stanford</u> in rejecting this claim.

XIII.

THE DEATH PENALTY HEREIN IS NOT DISPORTIONATE.

The trial court found two aggravators, HAC and in the course of a felony. It found the statutory mitigator of extreme emotional disturbance and rejected all other proffered mitigating factors, both statutory and nonstatutory. As related below, several of the trial court's findings on mitigation are problematic, and these problems cloud the proportionality picture considerably. However, taking the aggravating - mitigating balance as a whole, the death sentence is not disportionate.

The instant murder is as heinous, atrocious and cruel as it could possibly be. The physical evidence and autopsy results show that the victim struggled valiantly while being at first pummeled and then stabbed some sixty (60) times, mostly about the head, neck and face. The defendant's statements suggest the defendant deliberately attacked the victim's face and head in order to wipe off the expression on her face. Indeed, the ferocity of the attack increased because the victim continued to remain conscious and defend herself. There is no question that as far as the circumstances of the killing are concerned, the defendant is extremely deserving of the death penalty.

The second aggravating factor is in the course of a felony. The trial court cited the sexual battery, however even if this Court finds the sexual battery was an afterthought, this factor was established because the murder occurred in the victim's house, her castle, where she was deserving of and legally entitled to special protection. It is irrelevant how the defendant entered the home, because when he left the bathroom with the intent to bash in the victim's skull with his wrench, he was definitely "remaining" in an occupied dwelling without consent, and with an intention to commit on offense therein, i.e., battery. The State submits that the fact that the murder occurred in the elderly victim's home, her sanctuary, is a compelling aggravating factor in this cause.

As to mitigation, the crime ended up as a violent rage, yet the key decision to attack with the wrench was not the product of rage but rather of self-interest, i.e., the defendant was going to silence the victim so she could not tell his parents bad things about him. Though a profound over-reaction, the decision to attack was a deliberate one. The defendant's emotions certainly took over as the attack progressed, and the trial court found that the defendant did suffer an extreme emotional disturbance. The fact he gave it little weight is a reflection of the fact that the reason the defendant went into a frenzy is that his initial, deliberate attack did not have the desired result.

With due respect to the trial court, there was nonstatutory evidence which he "rejected," when in fact it should have been placed on the mitigating scale because it had some mitigating value, whether directly linked to the crime or not. The defendant had a learning disability, was illerate at the time of the offense, was only sixteen and, in this regard, there was no evidence he was wise beyond his years so as to justify outright rejection of this mitigating factor. His parents fought over his father's drinking, and there were two or three instances of sexual abuse by an uncle.

As for brain damage, this factor was properly rejected because Dr. Dietz testified the defendant had no clinically significant brain damage (R. 1406), and his diagnosis was certainly entitled to be credited by the trial court.

Taking the balance as a whole, one could certainly envision a vote for life, i.e., a fact-finder giving greater weight to the mitigation. However as this Court has stated many times, proportionality is not to be used as a vehicle for reweighing, rather the issue is whether the sentence disportionate when compared to other defendants' sentences for similar murders. Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1991). instant case is similar to Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. 1990) (death sentence warranted where defendant shot victim after breaking into her room, despite existence of extreme emotional disturbance). This is not a case of a domestic dispute. See Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990) (HAC and "in the course of a burlgary" insufficient where murder was product of longstanding domestic dispute.

In sum, the death sentence herein is not disportionate.

C.F., Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990).

XIV.

THE TRIAL COURT'S USE OF THE WRONG STANDARD IN REJECTING MITIGATION WAS CURED BY ITS INDEPENDENT FINDING AS TO EACH FACTOR.

The State agrees that the trial court should not have relied on the jury verdict to reject the diminished capacity statutory mitigator. (R. 2280). However the trial court then determined that the facts did not support this factor, and hence his statement that he was "bound" by the jury verdict is harmless error.

As for the trial court's rejection of age as a statutory factor (R. 2281), the State believes this factor should have been found and given some weight, as there was nothing to indicate the defendant was wise beyond his years. See Deaton v. State, 480 U.S. 1279 (Fla. 1985). However it is clear the trial court's weighing process would have been the same even had the defendant's age been factored into the equation.

The State agrees that the trial court should not have relied on the jury's rejection of the intoxication defense as a basis for rejecting this factor (R. 2282), at least as to the time of the offense. The trial court then properly rejected a history of drug or alcohol abuse based on the evidence at trial. As to intoxication at the time of the offense, other than a can of beer, the only claim was inhalation of gasoline fumes several

hours prior to the murder, and Dr. Dietz testified that the effects would have worn off long before the crime occurred. (R. 1409-1416).

As to the "sudden rage" mitigator (R. 2282, 83), the trial court again mistakenly relied on the jury's verdict, however he then rejected the factor based on his own analysis of the evidence, and the error is thus harmless.

XV.

THE DEFENDANT'S ESPINOSA CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Although the defendant objected to the HAC instruction on vagueness grounds, he did not request a fortified instruction but rather asked that no instruction on HAC be given at all (R. 1743, 44). The issue is thus not properly preserved. Gaskin v. Florida, Case No. 76,326 (Fla. March 18, 1993), slip op. at 2 (defendant must object on vagueness grounds and request special instruction as replacement).

XVI.

THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATOR WAS PROPERLY FOUND.

As set forth under claim III above, the defendant was not "acquitted" of felony murder in Morgan I, and this claim is thus meritless.

## XVII.

THE COMMENTS OF THE PROSECUTOR WERE EITHER NOT OBJECTED TO OR DO NOT MERIT REVERSAL.

The only comment cited which was objected to was the first one, concerning the defendant not knowing what happened to susceptible lack of remorse Even if to a the victim. interpretation, it was not so egregious as to warrant a mistrial. This Court has found far worse comments not to warrant reversal. See Pope v. Wainwright, 496 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1986) (comments on lack of remorse and telling jury defendant stated he wanted to die) Bertollotti v. State, 476 So. 2d 130 (Fla. 1985) (comments on right to remain silent, asking jurors to put themselves in victim's shoes, and send message to community) and Jackson v. State, 522 So. 2d 802 (Fla. 1988) (comments about statement to community, community watching, victims will no longer read books, visit families, see sun rise, etc.). For the types of egregious comments warranting reversal, see Garron v. State, 528 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1988).

The other comments cited were not objected to and these claims are thus procedurally barred.

### IIIVX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT ADDRESSING ALL THE MITIGATION PROFFERED BY THE DEFENDANT.

This case preceded <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1991), and hence the trial court was not yet required to separately address each proferred nonstatutory mitigating factor. As for the trial court's express rejection of mitigating factors, these are all dealt with under Claim XIV above.

### XIX.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE HAC AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

The victim of this case was stabbed sixty (60) times, with over a dozen wounds being defensive. The victim was literally butchered alive, while hopelessly and painfully struggling to fend off the defendant's attack. If HAC cannot be found based on the instant facts than it can never be found.

XX.

FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

The issues cited herein were not raised or properly raised at trial, and are procedurally barred. They have also been all rejected on numerous occasions and are meritless.

# CONCLUSION

The judgment and sentence are proper and thus should be affirmed.